
BOARD OF SELECTMEN
MEETING MINUTES

JANUARY 17, 2006

PRESENT:
Douglas W. Lyon, Selectman
Ruth I. Clough, Selectman
Jessie Levine, Town Administrator

ABSENT:
Mark Kaplan, Chair, Board of Selectmen

OTHERS PRESENT:
John and Kitty Wilson, New London residents
Bob and DJ Lavoie, New London residents
Richard Clayton, President, Pleasant Lake Protective Association
Thomas Brennan Jr., Superintendent, Kearsarge Regional School District
Laura Nelson, Assistant Superintendent, Kearsarge Regional School District
Don West, Principal, Kearsarge Regional Middle School
Peter Stanley, Zoning Administrator
Debbie Cross, Intertown Record

Mr. Lyon called the meeting to order at 8:00 AM.

Meeting Minutes: Ms. Clough moved to approve the minutes of January 9, 2006. Second Mr. Lyon and
approved 2-0.

Joint Board of Selectmen: Ms. Levine said that the School Board plans to hold a public information
session on its warrant articles on February 2, 2006.  School Board Chair Dan Wolf had originally asked if
it would be appropriate to have the Joint Boards of Selectmen host the session, but after talking to Ms.
Levine and Mr. Lyon, it seemed inappropriate since discussion would primarily focus on the warrant
articles.  Ms. Levine asked if the Joint Boards of Selectmen should still hold their own session to discuss
the school question and other issues. Ms. Clough said that she would like to hear the positions from the
other boards and listen to the school board representatives talk about their positions.  Ms. Levine asked if
the format would be a meeting or a forum, and Ms. Clough suggested having both: presentations followed
by discussion.

The Selectmen discussed the difficulty with scheduling a Joint Board meeting earlier in the winter, and
thought it was likely due to the short notice.  Ms. Clough noted that the School Board had not voted to
include both locations on the ballot at that time and people were concerned that the New London
Selectmen were taking a new position on the location. Mr. Lyon agreed and noted that this meeting
should be an informational session to get questions answered and is another opportunity for the School
Board and KARMA to present their positions and answer questions, consistent with the New London
Selectmen’s goal to get out as many facts as possible.

Ms. Levine suggested having a date closer to the election, such as March 1, 2006.  The Selectmen agreed
with that date and Mr. Lyon suggested having it at the high school.  A discussion followed about whether
the auditorium or cafeteria would be better, and Bob Lavoie suggested using the former for presentations
and the latter for discussion.  Mr. Lavoie asked what the real purpose of this meeting would be, since the
School District had already held its deliberative session.  Mr. Lyon replied that deliberative process is
ongoing and both sides want to encourage more dialogue so everyone gets the opportunity to talk and



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes
January 17, 2006
Page 2 of 7

listen.  Mr. Lyon thought it would also be a good opportunity for discussion among the Selectmen,
although not knowing the positions of the other boards he does not know what the discussion will look
like.  Mr. Lyon said none of the Boards of Selectmen have any authority over the school vote, and he
would like to use the Joint Board meeting as an opportunity to engender discussion and allow people to
receive more information.

Public Works Study: Ms. Levine reminded the Selectmen of the kickoff meeting on the Public Works
study today at 4:00 at the Sewer Department.  The consultants will be present, as well as the Sewer
Commissioners and staff and Road Agent Richard Lee.

Reduced Winter Maintenance Hearing: Ms. Levine said that Alan Hanscom of the NH Department of
Transportation has scheduled the public hearing on the reduced winter maintenance request for Thursday,
January 26, 2006 at 7:00 PM at the KRMS Cafeteria.  The meeting will be run by NHDOT, and Ms.
Levine has asked Department Heads to be present.  There is a School Board meeting that night, and Ms.
Levine talked to Dan Wolf about sending a representative to communicate the District’s concerns about
travel.

Landfill Repair Cost Estimate: Ms. Levine said that Nobis Engineering had prepared an estimate of
$250,000 to repair the landfill slip that occurred during the October rains.  This includes engineering and
construction.  To date, FEMA has only committed to reimbursing New London $5,300 based on 75% of
FEMA’s estimated repair cost of about $7,000.  Richard Lee has appealed FEMA’s decision and will be
meeting this week with another representative from FEMA (FEMA had covered the bulk of the repair
costs during the previous two weather-related slips).  Richard Lee also has attempted to reach the State
Department of Environmental Services (DES) to find out whether DES would allow the Town to design
and construct the repair on its own, since the Town has the template from the previous two repair projects.
This would save about $125,000 in costs.  Since neither question has been answered, the full $250,000
has been put into the 2006 budget.  Mr. Lyon suggested that this might be an appropriate item to bond,
since the cost would then be spread out among current and future taxpayers.  Ms. Levine suggested
talking to the Budget Committee about that idea at their meeting on Wednesday night.

Pleasant Lake/Middle School property: at 8:30 AM, the Selectmen were joined by John and Kittie Wilson
and Richard Clayton of the Pleasant Lake Protective Association (PLPA), as well as Tom Brennan,
superintendent of the Kearsarge Regional School District.  Mr. Clayton, who is president of the PLPA,
handed a memo to the Board of Selectmen summarizing PLPA’s concerns about the possible use of the
New London middle school property for the new middle school.  The memo referred to RSA 155:A-4,
which requires, prior to the construction of a school, a “a permit signed by the board of selectmen, after
its due consideration of any written recommendations of the fire chief.”  Ms. Levine asked Zoning
Administrator Peter Stanley to join the discussion.  Ms. Levine asked if this requires a building permit or
simply a permit that the school meets fire regulations.  Mr. Stanley, who is also the fire chief, opined that
this would not be the Town’s typical building permit, which requires compliance with zoning regulations,
but a permit recognizing that the building meets fire codes.

Ms. Levine referred to RSA 674:54, which requires a governmental unit such as a school district to notify
the Board of Selectmen or Planning Board of proposed construction and give them the opportunity to
hold a public hearing, but does not require compliance with local zoning regulations.  She said that she
does not want to presume that the School District would not attempt to comply with local regulations,
including wetlands regulations, and Mr. Brennan concurred.  He added that the Board of Education has
requirements for the minimum buildable acreage of a proposed school site, and the School District plans
to apply for a waiver for this site. This would have to be done if the New London site is chosen by voters,
so he wanted to do it now in case the waiver is denied.  The waiver application requires environmental
and wetlands statements, and the HL Turner Group is pulling together that information this week.



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes
January 17, 2006
Page 3 of 7

Ironically, Mr. Brennan explained, the responsibility for this process falls on the School District, and the
School District is not even in favor of using this site.  Mr. Clayton asked whose authority regulates the
use of the site, and Mr. Brennan replied that the waiver application goes to the Commissioner of
Education and is appealed to the State Board of Education.

Mr. Lyon asked if PLPA was asserting that there is a problem with the site or that they “may have” a
problem with the site.  He added that at the deliberative session KARMA made the statement that the
Conservation Commission did not see any red flags with the proposed plan.  Mr. Stanley clarified that the
Conservation Commission’s statement was by no means an endorsement of the project; KARMA’s
proposal contained typical wetlands crossings and in some areas was able to diminish infringement on the
wetlands by talking to the Conservation Commission.  This included a crossing for the drive around the
back of the middle school, not unlike what has been discussed to solve the circulation problems before
and after school. KARMA’s plan did not discuss the filling of wetlands for the construction of buildings,
although it proposes building in the existing playing field which is filled wetlands. Mr. Stanley predicts
that will increase the construction costs because of unstable fill.  He said the Conservation Commission
said there were no red flags due to filling of wetlands for the construction of buildings.

Mr. Lyon said he is hearing concern from PLPA that would be addressed by the Planning Board if this
were private development, but the process will be different since this is a governmental project.  Tom
Brennan said the School District met with the Sutton Planning Board as well as Selectmen, Conservation
Commission, and department heads, and he would follow the same process if the project were voted to
take place in New London.  Mr. Lyon asked Ms. Levine to consult with Town Counsel regarding the
meaning of the permit referenced in RSA 155:A-4.

John Wilson said he has three areas of primary concern: first, he was surprised to hear that the Planning
Board allowed KARMA to meet with them without being on the agenda.  Ms. Levine said she agreed,
especially given the Planning Board’s long practice of requiring engineers and applicants to get on the
agenda by submitting information two weeks in advance to allow department heads time to review the
proposed plans.  She said that she has communicated her concerns to the chair of the Planning Board.

Second, Mr. Wilson said, was that the plan presented by KARMA to the Conservation Commission was
purely conceptual, and the Conservation Commission knew that it was conceptual and Dale Conly made a
specific comment at the meeting that the Commission’s comments are limited to the conceptual plan.  Mr.
Wilson understands that KARMA made comments at the deliberative session that the wetland was
intercepted by a berm and only minimal drainage passes through to Pleasant Lake.  Mr. Stanley said all of
the drainage goes to the lake and that comment is wrong.  Mr. Wilson then read the Conservation
Commission’s letter of April 2000 in which the Commission expressed concern about protecting the
wetlands on school property.

Third, Mr. Wilson said voters could be voting on a school that might not be able to be built if it impinges
on wetlands and does not meet state wetlands regulations.  Ms. Levine said that Tom Brennan is trying to
address those questions before the vote takes place.  Mr. Wilson asked the Selectmen to take a stand not
on the school issue but on the protection of the Town.  Ms. Levine said that without the facts, it is just as
tenuous for the Selectmen to take a position against that location as it is for them to say that there are no
problems with it.  Mr. Lyon reiterated that the Selectmen need facts, but are concerned about all of the
Town’s natural resources and if the facts reveal that there are threats to the natural environment then the
Selectmen would be concerned.  He added that this speaks to the need for having information sessions
close to the time of the vote.  Mr. Wilson expressed concern that if the vote passed for New London,
political momentum might put environmental considerations to the side.  Peter Stanley agreed that DES
could then get political in its decision-making and expressed hope that the School Board would have
information about the wetlands well before the vote.



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes
January 17, 2006
Page 4 of 7

Kittie Wilson said the layers of concern grow greater and greater, and the general voter does not have a
clue about the issues involved.  She is appalled that the choice is on the ballot as if the two sites are equal.
She said the Conservation Commission’s comment about no red flags is a huge talking about in the
community, and yet there is so much that we don’t know.

Mr. Lyon said we do know that the school does not have the required 19 acres for the building site.  Mr.
Brennan said the property totals 26 acres, and about nine acres are taken up by the elementary school.
Mr. Stanley said there must be at least another 7-8 acres of wetlands.  DJ Lavoie asked if the information
would be made public when it comes back, and Mr. Brennan agreed that it would be made public.  HL
Turner is working on identifying the amount of buildable acreage.  Ms. Levine asked for a copy of the
waiver application, assuming it will have information for the Town to review.

Mr. Lyon said that at the deliberative session, the question was raised about the time to build at each site,
and KARMA responded that the timing was equivalent.  Mr. Lyon questioned if that includes permitting,
which sounds more extensively involved at the New London site.  Mr. Brennan said he does not believe it
includes permitting.  Mr. Clayton asked if question 2 could be withdrawn from the school ballot, and Mr.
Brennan replied that it could not, even if the New London site were found to be unsuitable.  Mr. Brennan
said if the New London site is unsuitable, there would be adequate publicity about that issue.  Mr. Lavoie
asked why these questions were not addressed before.  Mr. Brennan replied that the School District
thought that they had been addressed and they had discounted the use of the property and did not have the
funds to do an in depth study.  When questions arose again the School Board committed the funds to
doing more research.

Kittie Wilson said she understands that the Selectmen are trying to be careful about taking a position, but
voters have a right to the full information.  Mr. Lyon agreed and said there are two months left before the
vote, which gives plenty of time for fact-gathering.  The Selectmen will try to hold a meeting of the Joint
Boards of Selectmen on March 1 that will allow public presentations to get more facts out there.  Mr.
Wilson said that the proposed size of the new school and the amount of impervious surface that would
come with it is equal to four Granger Ridge developments.

Mr. Lyon asked Tom Brennan if the School District is required to seek the waiver, and Mr. Brennan said
that it was and would have to do so if the site were approved, so the School Board decided to do it now.
Mr. Lyon said that the Selectmen will commit to getting all of the facts and information out that they can;
these minutes will go to the e-mail list and to the papers and the Selectmen will make public anything that
comes to them.  Mr. Wilson said that there was quick e-mail chatter among the Conservation Commission
that raised the question of whether the Commission was waiting for direction from the Selectmen. Ms.
Clough said the Selectmen don’t usually direct the Conservation Commission; in fact, the Selectmen
would follow direction given by the Conservation Commission.  Mr. Stanley suggested that PLPA get on
the Conservation Commission’s agenda for Wednesday’s meeting, and Mr. Lyon suggested inviting the
School District and KARMA as well.  Mr. Lyon asked Mr. Stanley to convey to the Conservation
Commission the Selectmen’s hope that the Commission will give the Selectmen guidance.  Ms. Levine
said she thinks a meeting tomorrow would be premature because the School District is still doing the
additional engineering for the waiver application.

John and Kittie Wilson and Richard Clayton departed at approximately 9:30 AM.

Sutton Middle School site: Mr. Brennan said he had asked to be on the Selectmen’s agenda to update
them on the middle school project. He repeated that the School Board is pursuing a waiver for the New
London site because they need to anticipate the “what-ifs.” He then displayed a plan of the 86-acre Sutton
site with the proposed building and field location, and the second access requested by the Sutton Fire
Department.  He pointed out that there are two wetlands crossings required by the entrance off Gile Pond
Road (the topography did not facilitate access off Route 114, which had been their preference). He said



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes
January 17, 2006
Page 5 of 7

one of the reasons this site is favored by the School Board is the proximity to the high school, which will
create educational and busing opportunities.  He point out that the Sutton site also has the Conservation
Commission trail which will provide educational opportunities, as will nearby Gile Pond.  He said if the
site passes the School Board will pursue easement negotiations with the Sutton Conservation
Commission.  The site also provides expansion space for the Sutton elementary school.  Ms. Lavoie asked
if that cost would belong to Sutton taxpayers, and Mr. Brennan clarified that it would belong to the whole
district.

Ms. Clough asked how many acres were developed under this proposed plan, and Mr. Brennan did not
know. Mr. Lyon asked about the busing change, and Mr. Brennan replied that it hopes to accommodate
older students who would benefit from more time in the morning.  Mr. Lyon asked if the School Board
had considered the impact to parental schedules, and Mr. Brennan said that they are doing more research
and looking at which other school districts have done.

Mr. Brennan showed a floor plan of the middle school building and said the School Board reduced the
size from the original design by 6200 square feet but was able to maintain the functionality of the cluster
structure.  He said this building is designed for 700 with build-out capacity up to 900 students, and he has
to tip his hat to the School Board for not cutting back on the building to save money. Ms. Levine said the
building itself takes up two acres, and each field must take up approximately one acre.  Mr. Brennan said
that the amount of buildable space complies with the 55% building aid requirement.  Ms. Levine asked
how the 55% building aid is reflected, and Mr. Brennan replied that the state would make an annual
payment to the district in the amount of 55% of the District’s principal payments on the debt.  Ms. Levine
said it would be useful for voters to know that the payments are received as annual revenue to the district,
because it means that the effect on the tax rate will be lower.

Mr. Lyon asked if it’s possible that the New London site won’t qualify for building aid, and Mr. Brennan
replied that if the waiver is denied then the School District would not receive building aid for that site and
would have to pay 100% of the cost.  Ms. Levine said she was under the impression that the waiver was
regarding the buildability of the site, and Mr. Brennan said that they could not rule against building on a
site but could withhold the building aid if they found a site to be inadequate.

Don West said that with the Sutton site, all educational and extracurricular activities can happen on the
site.  The cluster concept allows core educational content for each grade level to stay within its own
section and the grade levels can pass for special classes without disrupting other clusters.  Much
consideration has been given to student traffic flow and to minimizing contact between grade levels.

Ms. Lavoie asked if the SAU would be moved to Sutton, and Mr. Brennan said that the Long Term
Planning Committee, which will meet shortly, will address that question.  Tom Brennan said the School
Board has asked the Turner Group to look at the existing central school bundling for use for the SAU and
James House and anything else that would allow the building to be retained for the community’s
educational or recreational needs.  He said at one point the District had discussed using the building for a
charter school but at a $13 million cost to renovate the entire building, it was not worthwhile for the small
number of students served.

The Selectmen thanked Mr. Brennan for his time and Mr. Brennan, Mr. West, and Ms. Nelson departed at
10:00 AM.

Regional Homeland Security Network: Ms. Levine updated the Selectmen on the regional discussions to
install a fiber optic network to allow opportunities beyond those provided by telephone and cable
companies.  The Selectmen are supportive of the initiative, which will give users more options.  Mr. Lyon
said Adelphia’s service has become more reliable lately but its pricing continues to climb.



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes
January 17, 2006
Page 6 of 7

There being no further public business, Mr. Lyon moved to go into non-public session to discuss
employee compensation pursuant to RSA 91-A:3 II (a).  Second Ms. Clough.  Roll call vote: Clough –
yes; Lyon –yes.

Upon returning from non-public session, the Selectmen approved the following documents.

Building Permits:

• Frank & Evelyn Sainz, 49 Seasons (Map 146, Lot 002-049) permit to change screened in porch into
breakfast nook as well as becoming part of the kitchen – Approved (Permit 06-003)

• Dale L. Conly, 82 Knights Hill Road (Map 082, Lot 001) permit to build sugar house – Approved
(Permit 06-002)

Sign Permit Applications:

• None

Other Items for Signature:

• Disbursement Voucher for the week of January 17, 2006 – Approved

• Dispatch Contract for January 1-December 31, 2006 for the towns of :  Springfield, Newbury,
Grantham Fire Department, Goshen, Bradford, Sutton, Sunapee, Wilmot - Approved

• Appointment of Celeste Cook as Welfare Officer – Approved

• Application for Use of Whipple Memorial Town Hall for Sunapee Kearsarge Intercommunity Theater
(S.K.I.T.) for staged readings/shows for January 12, 16, 17, 19 and February 13, 2006 from 6:30 –
10:30 p.m.

• Application for Use of Whipple Memorial Town Hall for Northeast Shakespeare Ensemble (NESE)
for theatre auditions; no audience of general public on Saturday, February 18, 2006 from 10 a.m. to
5:00 p.m. – Approved

• Application for Use of Town Office Sydney L. Crook Conference Room for Kearsarge Lake Sunapee
Community Center on Friday, January 20, 2006 for civic/community meeting from 7:30 a.m. to 9:00
a.m. – Approved

• Application for use of the Town Office Sydney L. Crook Conference Room for League of Women
Voters on Tuesday, March 7, 2006 from 7 p.m. to 9 p.m. - Approved

• Notice of Intent to Cut Wood or Timber for Catherine F. Edmunds, South Pleasant Street (Map 095,
Lot 021) – Approved

• Town Planning Services Agreement for Kenneth B. McWilliams & Associates, LLC – Approved

• Abatement Recommendations:

Marcella Starkey Revocable Trust, 231 Woodland Trace (Map 094, Lot 013) – Approved
Ruth I. & John F. Clough Trusts, 306 Whitney Brook Road (Map 039, Lot 007) – Approved

There being no further business, the Board of Selectmen adjourned the meeting at 11:00 AM.

Respectfully submitted,



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes
January 17, 2006
Page 7 of 7

Jessie W. Levine
Town Administrator


